# **RECEIVED**

04-01-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2016AP000225 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

BRENDA S. WEBSTER, Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, ENTERED IN THE SHAWANO COUNTY CIRCUIT

COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES R. HABECK PRESIDING.

## DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone), Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

# **

**ISSUE PRESENTED** 

Did interpreter's errors in interpreting trial testimony of complaining

witness require that interpreter be disqualified?

The trial court answered: no.

Did such errors require that trial court strike testimony of complaining

witness?

The trial court answered: no.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel would welcome oral argument should this Court determine that

such argument would be helpful in addressing the issues presented in this

brief.

Counsel believes that publication will be warranted as this appeal involves

issues not yet examined by Wisconsin courts in a published case.

1

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Webster with armed robbery, misdemeanor battery, felony intimidation of a victim, and disorderly conduct with use of a dangerous weapon. A-Ap.100-101. The criminal complaint contains the specific allegations made by the State. 1:1-10.

After various pre-trial proceedings, the case proceeded to a two day jury trial wherein the jury found Webster guilty on all counts. A-Ap.102. At sentencing, the trial court sentenced Webster to 10 years confinement and 5 years extended supervision (armed robbery), 9 months jail (battery), 3 years confinement and 3 years extended supervision (intimidation of a victim) and 9 months jail (disorderly conduct with use of a dangerous weapon) with all sentences to be served concurrently. A-Ap.102-103. Webster timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed the undersigned counsel. These proceedings follow Webster's notice of appeal. 37.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

At trial, an interpreter provided translation for the complaining witness's testimony. 50: 99-100. The complaining witness, M.P., testified in the Spanish language. 50:102. Prior to M.P.'s testimony, the trial court swore in the interpreter. 50:100. The record does not reflect the specific oath recited by the interpreter or any qualifications on her part. 50:100.

During M.P.'s testimony, trial counsel moved to disqualify the interpreter and to strike the testimony of M.P. 50:150. The trial court denied the motions. 50:153.

In the interest of economy and a logical presentation of facts, the specific errors in the interpreter's translation will be referenced and discussed below in the context of Webster's arguments.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in failing to disqualify interpreter and strike complaining witness's testimony.

## A. Standard of review and applicable law

It is well-settled that the use of an interpreter is discretionary with the trial Kropiwka v. Department of Industry, Labor & Human court. **Relations**, 87 Wis.2d 709, 715, 275 N.W.2d 881 (1979). Discretionary determination, to be sustained, must demonstrably be made and based upon facts appearing in record and reliance on appropriate and applicable law, and most importantly, discretionary determination must be product of rational mental process by which facts of record and law relied upon are stated and are considered together for purpose of achieving reasoned and reasonable determination. Wisc. Prof'l. Baseball Park v. Mitsubishi Heavy Indus., 2007 WI App 185, ¶39, 304 Wis.2d 637, 738 N.W.2d 87. Trial court erroneously exercises it discretion when it: 1) fails to consider and make record of relevant factors; 2) considers improper or clearly irrelevant factors; and 3) gives too much weight to any single factor. **Id**. Abuse of discretion may also occur when trial court makes error of law. **Id.** at  $\P 40.$ 

B. Good cause existed to disqualify interpreter and strike complaining witness's testimony.

Wis. Stat. Sec. 885.38 pertains to "Interpreters in circuit and appellate courts." Subsection (6) provides as follows:

Any party to a court proceeding may object to the use of any qualified interpreter for cause. The court may remove a qualified interpreter for good cause. Wis. Stat. Sec. 885.38(6).

Webster, through trial counsel, moved the trial court to disqualify the interpreter and strike M.P.'s testimony due to an inaccurate translation, 50:150-151, and an "honesty issue" presented by the interpreter. 50:152. Webster identified three particular instances which demonstrated that the interpreter had not provided accurate translation. The first two instances pertained generally to M.P.'s identification of Webster as the robber. In support of the identification, M.P. testified regarding her observation of certain clothing worn by the robber and prior times where the robber had come into her store.

The prosecutor asked M.P. is she had ever seen Webster before:

Q: Would you take a look at the person sitting at the table over there? 50:139.

A: Yes. 50:139.

Q: Have you seen her before? 50:139.

A: Yes. 50:139.

Q: When? 50:139.

A. Before there was a robbery. On two occasions she went in with her daughter and son-in-law. The son-in-law is Mexican, and the man was sending money. 50:139.

---

Q: Okay. But you have seen that person sitting at the defense table in your store two times before? 50:140.

A: Yes. 50:140.

Q: And when you say two times—when I'm asking you two times before, before June 27? 50:140.

A; Before the 27<sup>th</sup>. 50:140.

Q: Do you know how long before? Estimate, if you know, if you recall. 50;140.

A: About ten days before, but she had been there before. The second time was closer to the 27<sup>th</sup>. 50:140.

Q: Okay. The first time, though, that was about how long before, if you know? If you remember? 50:140.

A: About two weeks before the robbery, could it have been. I don't remember the exact date, but she was there on two occasions with her daughter and the son-in-law. The son-in-law has a really ugly nickname. They nickname him el chango, the monkey. 50:140.

Q: El chango? 50:140.

A: Yes, that's what they call him. 50:141.

Q: Oh, okay. And when they came in those two times, was it to send money to Mexico both times? 50:141.

A: Two times, yes. He was a client there. Every two weeks when they get paid, they send money to Mexico. 50:141.

Q: Okay. So that man came in more times than this person over here? 50:141.

A: Yes. Him and his daughter, they would come in to buy tortillas. The woman, I don't know if it's the wife or who she is, she would grab the tortillas while he was making the payment to send the money. 50:141.

Based upon the discrepancy between the former testimony that woman had come into the store with her daughter and son-in-law, and the latter testimony that the man came into the store with "his daughter," Webster advised the trial court as to the apparent problem in translation. 50:50:141-142. The trial court then directly asked M.P. to clarify her testimony:

Q: Here's the point ma'am. When the man came in that sent money to Mexico, did he have a daughter sometimes? 50:143.

A. The daughter of the lady. 50:143.

Q: Did you have two women and one man? 50:143.

A: Yes. The lady's daughter. There were two. And there is another daughter, and there were three daughters, and one of them looks a lot like her. And then the son-in-law and her. 50:143.

In further support of the argument that the translation was not accurate, Webster pointed to a second example, one regarding M.P.'s testimony regarding the mask worn by the robber. 50:137. Trial counsel informed that court that he believed M.P. had described the mask as revealing the eyes and mouth of the robber, whereas the interpreter translated the

testimony as the mask only revealed the ears and mouth. 50:143-144. Trial counsel was correct:

Q: Do you remember –what do you remember about the clothing? 50:137.

A: Everything was black. She was wearing a ski mask. One of those ones where you can only see the ears and the mouth, so I didn't see anything. It was all black and she was wearing a black sweatshirt that was too big for her. It was black and large. 50:137.

Webster then pointed to a third instance where the interpreter did not provide accurate translation, in the spelling of M.P.'s surname. In this regard, Webster clarified that the interpreter translated the spelling of M.P.'s surname as x-x-x-x-S, 50:100, when in fact, M.P., had testified that she spelled her name, x-x-x-z. 50:156.

The interpreter, in responding to Webster's complaint regarding the accuracy of the translation, informed the trial court that she had, during a break, spoken to certain Spanish speaking observers of the trial, one of whom was M.P.'s daughter, and inquired whether she had made any mistakes during her translation. 50:146,147. The interpreter advised the trial court that the individuals replied, "no." 50:146.

In hearing Webster's argument that the interpreter had not provided accurate translation, the trial court took testimony from M.P.'s daughter.

50:146- 149. The daughter testified that she understood both Spanish and English, and that she had heard her mother's testimony and the interpreter's translation of it. 50:148. When asked by the trial court if she had "spott(ed) problems" with the translation, the daughter responded, "yes". 50:148-149. The daughter testified that her mother said "eyes" and not "ears" in describing those features not covered by the mask, and that her mother described the defendant's daughter as the man's girlfriend or wife, not his daughter. 50:149, 150.

In declining to grant Webster's request to disqualify the interpreter and strike M.P.'s testimony, the trial court concluded that the interpreter had provided a "substantial correct interpretation" and that the trial could proceed. 50:153. The trial court erred in rejecting Webster's motion. First, the standard for assessing the interpreter's performance was not whether the interpreter provided a "substantial correct interpretation," as considered by the trial court, but whether she provided a "complete and accurate interpretation." The rules of the Supreme Court establish a "Code of Ethics for Court Interpreters." See SCR 63.001 to 63.10. Rule 63.01 pertains to "Accuracy and completeness" and provides as follows:

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For clarification, the daughter and the mother share the name, M.P., 50:147.

Interpreters shall render a complete and accurate interpretation or sight translation by reproducing in the target language the closest natural equivalent of the source language message, without altering, omitting, or adding anything to the meaning of what is stated or written, and without explanation. SCR 63.01.

#### The comments to Rule 63.01 are further instructive:

Interpreters have a twofold role: (1) to ensure that court proceedings reflect, in English, precisely what was said by persons of limited English proficiency; and (2) to place persons of limited English proficiency on an equal footing with persons who understand English. This creates an obligation to conserve every element of information contained in a source language communication when it is rendered in the target language.

Therefore, interpreters are required to apply their best skills and judgment to preserve, as faithfully as is reasonably possible and without editing, the meaning of what is said, including the style or register of speech, the ambiguities and nuances of the speaker, and the level of language that best conveys the original meaning of the source language. Verbatim, "word for word," or literal oral interpretations are inappropriate when they distort the meaning of what was said in the source language. However, every spoken statement, even if it appears non-responsive, obscene, rambling, or incoherent should be interpreted. This includes apparent misstatements.

Interpreters should not interject any statement or elaboration of their own. If the need arises to explain an interpreting problem, such as a term or phrase with no direct equivalent in the target language or a misunderstanding that only the interpreter can clarify, the interpreter should ask the court's permission to provide an explanation.

Spoken language interpreters should convey the emotional emphasis of the speaker without reenacting or mimicking the speaker's emotions, or dramatic gestures. Sign language interpreters, however, must employ all of the visual cues that the language they are interpreting for requires-including facial expressions, body language, and hand gestures. Judges should ensure that court participants do not confuse these essential elements of the interpreted language with inappropriate interpreter conduct. Any challenge to the interpreter's conduct should be directed to the judge.

The obligation to preserve accuracy includes the interpreter's duty to correct any errors of interpretation discovered during the proceeding. Interpreters should demonstrate their professionalism by objectively analyzing any challenge to their performance...Comment, SCR Rule 63.01.

SCR Rule 63.004 provides that "(t)he comments accompanying this code are not adopted. The comments are intended as guides to interpretation, but the text of each rule is authoritative." As such, Rule 63.01 required the interpreter, by use of the term "shall," to provide complete and accurate interpretation. Plainly, the interpreter did not do this. As evidenced by the specific examples cited by Webster and confirmed by M.P.'s daughter, the interpreter inaccurately interpreted certain aspects of M.P.'s testimony. These inaccuracies alone constituted good cause to disqualify the interpreter and strike the testimony. Questions concerning the credibility and voracity of the interpreter compounded these inaccuracies as a good cause basis. The court and all parties must accept at face value what the represented translation is. Indeed, unless there is some witness to the translation who can evaluate its accuracy, as we have in this case, there may be no avenue for ensuring or even determining accuracy. The interpreter in this case advised the trial court that there were witnesses who could inform the court that there were no mistakes in the translation. 50:146. This turned out to be incorrect. In fact, the witness offered to the trial court by the interpreter testified to the contrary, that there were in fact mistakes. 50:147-150. This discrepancy in the interpreter's representation of what

the witness would say about the translation and what the witness actually did say, served to undermine the credibility and voracity of the interpreter as well her accuracy in transferring information between individuals. This court should reject the trial court's rationale that because the interpreter had provided a "substantial correct interpretation," she could proceed with the trial. 50:153. The "Code of Ethics for Court Interpreters" does not speak in terms of providing a mostly correct translation or a substantially correct Rule 63.01 expressly requires a "complete and accurate translation. interpretation." That clearly did not occur in this case. Moreover, if this court were to tolerate inaccuracies in translated testimony, which Webster maintains it should not do, it should at least confine the acceptance of such inaccuracies to areas of testimony which have limited materiality or relevance to the proceeding. In such instances, perhaps the court could overlook the inaccurate translation of a non-material witness or of an area which had little probative value to the central issues in the case. But here, the interpreter's inaccuracies involved the testimony of the State's complaining witness, essentially the most vital witness to the case. Similarly, the inaccuracies pertained to the complaining witness's identification of the robber in general and to her identification of Webster in particular. As such, the inaccuracies could not have occurred in more seminal areas. Had the trial court evaluated "good cause" based on the proper standard, whether the interpreter had provided a "complete and accurate interpretation," it would have been compelled to find that good cause existed to disqualify the interpreter and strike the testimony.

Further, the trial court should have considered that the inaccuracies compromised Webster's constitutional rights. In this regard, the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution both guarantee a defendant's right to confront his accusers. The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution both guarantee a defendant the right to due process. In the context of an interpreter's performance, federal courts have recognized that an interpreter's deficiencies may implicate both the right to due process and to confrontation. See United States v. Martinez, 616 F.2d 185, 188 (5th Cir. 1980); U.S. v. Bennett, 848 F.2d 1134, 1141 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988). In exercising discretion, the trial court must balance the defendant's rights to confrontation against the public's interest in economical administration of criminal law. See Valladares v. U.S., 871 F.2d 1564, 1566 (11 Cir. 1989).

In this case, the trial court failed not only to engage in any such "balancing," but to even countenance that the inaccuracies and problems with the interpretation implicated Webster's constitutional rights. Without considering these factors, the trial court cannot be deemed to have properly exercised its discretion. Had the trial court properly engaged in the requisite "balancing" of the relevant rights and interests at stake, it would have been compelled to conclude that good cause existed to disqualify the interpreter and strike the testimony.

Finally, the trial court failed to establish for the record that the interpreter was sufficiently qualified to participate in the case. The decision to admit expert witness rests with the discretion of the circuit court. See **Dakter v. Cavallino**, 2014 WI App 112, ¶68, 358 Wis.2d 434, 856 N.W.2d 523. The circuit court's exercise of discretion will not be overturned if the decision had a reasonable basis, and if the decision was made in accordance with accepted legal standards and in accordance with the facts of the record. **Id**. In this case, the trial court's discretionary decisions regarding the use of the interpreter at trial were not made in accordance with accepted legal standards. Under Wisconsin law, an interpreter must be qualified as an

expert witness. See **State v. Santiago**, 206 Wis.2d 3, 23, 556 N.W.2d 687 (1996). Wis. Stat. Sec. 906.04, "Interpreters," provides as follows:

An interpreter is subject to the provisions of chs. 901 to 911 relating to qualification as an expert and the administration of an oath or affirmation that the interpreter will make a true translation. Wis. Stat. Sec. 906.04.

The Wisconsin Court Interpreters Handbook, Supreme Court of Wisconsin, Office of Court Operations, 2004, pages 6-7, provides a list of questions which trial courts may use in qualifying a potential court reporter:

#### **VoirDire Examination Questions**

- 1. What is your native language? How did you learn English/the other language? How long have you been speaking it?
- 2. Please describe your formal schooling?
- 3. Do you have any formal training in interpreting? In legal or court interpreting?
- 4. Please describe your experience as an interpreter. Have you ever interpreted in court before? What kind of proceeding?
- 5. Are you certified as court reporter in Wisconsin or any state or federal court? Do you have any other accreditation for interpretation or translation?
- 6. Have you spoken with the person who needs interpreting, or do you need a few minutes to now talk? Are you familiar with the dialect he/she speaks? Are you able to understand him/her and communicate with him/her?
- 7. Do you know any of the parties, witnesses or attorneys? Are you aware of any conflict of interest that you might have in this case?
- 8. Describe what it means to interpret simultaneously and consecutively. Are you able to do so? Do you understand that you must interpret everything said on the record?
- 9. Do you need time to review any documents in this case?

10. Have you read the Code of Ethics for Court Interpreters in Wisconsin Courts? Do you understand it and agree to abide by it?

The *Handbook* additionally references and discusses the "certification" program offered through the Wisconsin Director of State Courts. See *The* Wisconsin Court Interpreters Handbook, Supreme Court of Wisconsin, Office of Court Operations, 2004, page 7. Of course, simply being a "certified" interpreter does not equate to meeting the qualifications for an expert witness under Wis. Stat. Sec. 907.02. Even if the interpreter is "certified," the trial court must still qualify the interpreter as an expert witness. A trial court may do so by stipulation, judicial notice, or by a voir dire into the interpreter's qualifications. See D. BLINKA, WISCONSIN PRACTICE SERIES, VOLUME 7, CIVIL EVIDENCE (Thomson Reuters/West, Third Edition, 2008), p.426. In this case, the trial court failed to qualify the interpreter as an expert witness in any manner. Indeed, the record is wholly silent as to the interpreter's education, training, experience and credentials. The interpreter plainly had not been formally qualified to participate in the proceedings as an expert witness under Secs. 906.04, 907.02 and Santiago. It was therefore error for the trial court to proceed with the interpreter from the outset. When the problems with the

interpreter's performance surfaced during trial and Webster sought to

disqualify the interpreter, the trial court had a continuing duty to inquire

and evaluate the interpreter's qualifications as an expert witness. The trial

court failed to do so. In fact, at no time during the trial did the trial court

establish for the record the interpreter's qualifications, experience, and

credentials. In light of the inaccuracies presented by the interpretation, the

trial court failed to properly exercise its discretion in using the interpreter in

general, and in particular, declining to disqualify her and strike her

translated testimony.

Conclusion

For all reasons stated in this brief, this Court should vacate the judgment of

conviction and sentence, and remand the case for a new trial.