# RECEIVED

## STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-13-2016

#### COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016AP225-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRENDA S. WEBSTER,

Defendant-Appellant.

### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SHAWANO COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JAMES R. HABECK, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As Respondent, the State exercises its option not to include separate statements of the case and facts. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. Relevant information will be included where appropriate in the State's argument.

#### ARGUMENT

Defendant-appellant Brenda S. Webster appeals a judgment of conviction for one count each of armed robbery, victim intimidation, battery, and disorderly conduct. (33; 34.) See Wis. Stat. §§ 943.32(2), 940.45(1), 940.19(1), 947.01(1). A jury convicted Webster of these crimes for robbing a grocery store in Shawano and battering the mother of the store's owner, who was working at the time of the robbery. Webster argues that she should get a new trial because the court interpreter made errors when translating the victim's trial testimony from Spanish. Webster contends the court should have disqualified the interpreter and stricken the victim's testimony. (Webster's Br. 4-14.) She also argues that the circuit court erred by not qualifying the interpreter as an expert under Wis. Stat. § 906.04. (Webster's Br. 14-17.)

This Court should affirm. The interpreter's errors did not prejudice Webster. The errors were either insignificant or the parties clarified the incorrectly translated testimony for the jury after becoming aware of it, or both. In addition, Webster forfeited any objection to the interpreter's qualifications by not objecting when the circuit court allowed her to translate for the victim. Webster is not entitled to a new trial.

## Webster is not entitled to a new trial based on the interpreter's translation errors and she forfeited her claim that the circuit court failed to properly qualify the interpreter.

## A. Applicable law and standard of review.

"The selection of a suitable person as an interpreter is within a trial court's discretion." *State v. Besso*, 72 Wis. 2d 335, 343, 240 N.W.2d 895 (1976) (citation omitted). This Court will uphold a circuit court's discretionary decision if it has a rational basis and was made in accordance with accepted legal standards in view of the facts of record. *State* v. Giese, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 16, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687. If a circuit court fails to set forth its reasoning in making a discretionary decision, this Court will search the record for reasons to uphold the court's decision. *State* v.*Manuel*, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 24, 281 Wis. 2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811.

Further, "[a] trial court's discretion in the choice of an interpreter will not be upset unless there is evidence showing that a defendant has been prejudiced by the interpreter's performance." *Besso*, 72 Wis. 2d at 343 (citation omitted). "Although a trial court has the duty to choose the most competent and least biased person available, the defendant must show that some injustice has resulted because of the appointment of the interpreter." *Id*. (citation omitted).

# B. Webster was not prejudiced by any of the three interpretation errors.

Webster points to three errors by the interpreter that she claims warrant relief. But the errors, either singly or together, were not sufficiently prejudicial to justify giving Webster a new trial.

The first error is the interpreter's translation of testimony about victim's having seen Webster before the robbery. (Webster's Br. 5-7.) The victim testified that Webster, Webster's daughter, and Webster's son-in-law had come into the store twice before the robbery so that the sonin-law could wire money to Mexico. (50:139-41.) The victim later testified, though, that "[h]im and his daughter" came to the store and that "[t]he woman, I don't know if it's the wife or who she is, she would grab the tortillas while he was making the payment to send the money." (50:141.) Defense counsel objected that he thought there was a problem with the interpreter's translation. (50:141-42.) Outside the jury's presence, the court asked the victim if the man brought his daughter with him to the store, and the victim replied "[t]he daughter of the lady." (50:143.) The victim also clarified that "the lady" had three daughters, and that two of them, and the son-in-law, had been in the store. (50:143.) Later, the victim's daughter informed the circuit court that the interpreter had mistranslated her mother's testimony, and that she had "said that it was the guy, her client, and his wife or girlfriend which is her daughter." (50:150.)

This error was not prejudicial. The translation error, as the State understands Webster's claim, is that the victim testified that Webster and her daughter came to the store, not the son-in-law and his daughter. The testimony about Webster's being in the store was relevant to show that she was aware that the store processed money transfers to Mexico and thus chose to rob it knowing that the store would have significant amounts of cash on hand. But nothing about the mistranslation mattered to this inference in any way that harmed Webster. The victim clearly testified that she saw Webster in her store before the robbery and that her son-in-law came with her. The only question raised by the mistranslation is whether Webster's daughter or the son-inlaw's daughter also came into the store with the two of them. It did not affect the victim's testimony that she saw Webster in the store before the robbery or that she was with someone who was sending money. And further demonstrating the error's irrelevancy, while defense counsel brought the error to the court's attention outside of the jury's presence, he did not bother to address it when he cross-examined the victim after the jury returned. (50:141-43, 155-73.) Whose daughter Webster was with at the store did not matter.

The second error is that the interpreter translated the victim's testimony about the robber's ski mask as being "[o]ne of those ones where you can only see the ears and the mouth." (Webster's Br. 7-8; 50:137.) When counsel later objected to the translation, he said, "I'm going to speculate that what she said was eyes," not ears. (50:144.) The circuit court noted that the victim had gestured to her eyes when she testified, and said that it thought that she had either misspoken or the interpreter erred. (50:144.) The victim's daughter told the court that her mother had said eyes. (50:149.) The victim subsequently testified with the jury present that she could see "[o]nly the mouth," and could not see the robber's eye or skin color because of the mask. (50:154.)

Again, this error was in no way prejudicial to Webster. The victim said the robber was wearing a ski mask. It is common knowledge that ski masks have holes for the mouth and eyes, but not for the ears, so the jury would have understood that the victim meant eyes even if the interpreter said ears. This was reinforced by the victim's gesturing toward her eyes and her subsequent testimony that she could not see the robber's eye color because of the mask, which suggests she could see the robber's eyes, but not in detail. Further, whether the victim could see the robber's eyes does not matter to Webster's guilt. The victim testified that she could not see the robber's face during the crime and did not identify Webster as the person who robbed her. (50:127, 138.) The mistranslation about the ski mask had no effect on the jury's verdict.

The final translation error is that the interpreter said that the victim's name ended in an "s" instead of a "z." (Webster's Br. 8; 50:101, 155-56.) There is no way that this possibly prejudiced Webster. Not only was the spelling of the victim's name entirely irrelevant to Webster's guilt, defense counsel noted and corrected the mistranslation when crossexamining the victim. (50:155-56.)

Webster argues that she is entitled to a new trial because the interpreter did not provide "a complete and accurate translation" as required by the Code of Ethics for Court Interpreters in SCR 63.01. She similarly argues that the circuit court applied the wrong standard when it denied her request to strike the victim's testimony after it concluded that the interpreter had given a "substantial correct interpretation." (Webster's Br. 9-13; 50:153.)

There are several problems with this argument, all of which should lead this Court to reject it. First, Webster never specifically argued in the circuit court that SCR 63.01 required striking the testimony because of the translation errors, so the argument is forfeited. *See State v. Lippold*, 2008 WI App 130, ¶ 8 n.3, 313 Wis. 2d 699, 757 N.W.2d 825. Second, nothing in SCR 63.01 or SCR Chapter 63 establishes that striking a witness's testimony is an appropriate remedy when an interpreter fails to accurately translate portions of that testimony. Finally, case law establishes that any translation errors must be prejudicial to justify relief; isolated and irrelevant errors like those at issue here will not suffice.

Webster also appears to argue that the errors were prejudicial, noting that they involved the testimony of the victim and related to her identification of the robber. (Webster's Br. 12-13.) But as argued, the errors were inconsequential to determining Webster's guilt. Webster further notes that interpretation problems can implicate a defendant's due process and confrontation rights, but she develops no argument how they did so here. (Webster's Br. 13.) This Court need not, and should not, address Webster's conclusory constitutional argument. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646-47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

Finally, Webster complains that the circuit court failed to make a record of the interpreter's qualifications as an expert witness under Wis. Stat. § 906.04. (Webster's Br. 14-17.) But Webster never objected to the court's decision to allow the interpreter to translate for the victim. (50:98-100.) Webster's failure to object is a forfeiture of her right to complain on appeal about the lack of a record of the interpreter's qualifications. *See State v. Torkelson*, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 25, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511.

#### CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's judgment of conviction.